Center for American Progress



Creating Strong Building Blocks for Every Student

How Middle Schools Can Lay the Foundation for Rigorous High School Pathways

By Meg Benner and Scott Sargrad August 2020

Contents

1 Introduction and summary

- 4 Background
- 7 Designing middle school pathways
- 8 5 key components for successful middle school pathways
- 16 State policies on career and college exploration in middle school
- 22 Recommendations
- 26 Conclusion
- 27 About the authors
- 27 Acknowledgements
- 28 Appendix: Methodology for landscape analysis
- 29 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

COVID-19 has created uncertainty for the future of America's economy, schools, and so many aspects of everyday life. In addition, the school closures in the spring of 2020 and the potential school disruptions in the 2020-21 school year are projected to have a lasting effect on student outcomes and preparedness. These closures and disruptions are even more acute in Black, Latinx, Indigenous, and low-income communities.

At this moment, states and school districts are wrestling with how to rework instruction and accelerate learning to help students remain on track for success in school and beyond. Supporting students and families in setting goals and developing and adapting plans to achieve them will help students, families, and educators identify when a student is falling behind—hopefully while there is still time to course-correct. While this has always been a best practice, it is even more critical given the learning losses that will likely result from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Even before the economy, schools, and communities were disrupted by the coronavirus, states, districts, and schools wrestled with how to better prepare students for the workforce of tomorrow. Some schools redesigned high school programs or improved career and technical education (CTE) to broaden opportunities for high school students and create a path to achieve their career aspirations. These programs, or pathways, that prepare students for college and career readiness include CTE concentrations, dual credit opportunities, and early college high schools.

However, the data show that prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, access to quality high school pathways varied considerably.

There are multiple factors that drive these inequities: lack of access to rigorous, prerequisite coursework; insufficient student and family information about the existence of these programs and how to prepare; and structural barriers such as transportation and feeder patterns that close some students out of certain special-ized programs.¹ These barriers pose particular difficulties for Black and Latinx students and students from families with low incomes.²

The closure of schools due to COVID-19 is likely to exacerbate those inequities. Moreover, access to career and college exploration will dwindle during and after the pandemic for all students. For example, school districts may cut or reduce time and resources dedicated to these programs to prioritize core curriculum given the loss of overall instructional time, or school districts may eliminate hands-on workforce training rather than reimagine it in a virtual environment. In the first few months of the pandemic, many states had not yet provided guidance on how to ensure that high school students can complete graduation and other requirements and transition to college, the military, or the workforce.³

In order to improve access to existing pathways and increase demand for more quality programs, states, school districts, and schools need to increase efforts to prepare students for college and the workforce of tomorrow. They need to begin these programs earlier and consider how to increase access to those opportunities in a virtual environment. As policymakers reimagine school given the current health risks, schools should consider how to prepare students to enter the ninth grade with rigorous academic records so that advanced coursework is well within reach. In addition, students should enter high school with a general sense of postsecondary and career development opportunities so that they can set educational goals that are aligned with their short- and long-term goals.

Fortunately, states and school districts were already developing strategies to start college and career exploration before the pandemic struck. In 2018, Congress passed the Strengthening Career and Technical Education for the 21st Century Act, the fifth reauthorization of the Carl D. Perkins Vocational Education Act. Commonly referred to as Perkins V, the federal legislation seeks to increase the quality of and access to career and technical education and encourages states to begin to start pathways programs earlier to lessen inequities. Perkins V requires local grant recipients to conduct a comprehensive local needs assessment as the basis for local plans and funding strategies. The assessment must consider the quality of the programs and progress toward equity and access, among other factors.⁴ Related to this, another important change is that Perkins V now allows states and districts to use funds as early as fifth grade, rather than seventh grade. This exploration of career pathways in younger grades can give students more time to actively learn about and prepare for high-quality programs.⁵

This approach builds on the extensive effort to develop, adopt, and implement the Common Core State Standards, a rigorous sequence of K-12 academic standards that prepare students for college and careers. Common Core State Standards are

an important part of identifying building blocks to success in high school and beyond, but they do not specifically address what high-quality college and career exploration should look like in middle school grades.⁶

The Center for American Progress sought to articulate critical components of middle school programs that help break down barriers to accessing high-quality pathways toward college and careers. While COVID-19 creates additional challenges and uncertainty, this report offers ways schools might consider implementing these components given the current pandemic.

The authors drew heavily on the work of Advance CTE and the Association for Career and Technical Education (ACTE), two nonprofit organizations that are at the forefront of articulating what career development should look like in middle grades while focusing on broader program elements that open doors toward multiple types of career and college preparation. Specifically, the authors recommend that all middle school programs include the following:

- Rigorous instruction that ensures readiness and eligibility for high-quality high school coursework
- Counseling and exploration for career pathways and college preparation
- Opportunities for teachers to connect with and learn from industry and secondary postsecondary programs
- Family engagement and frequent information sharing regarding college and career pathways options
- Exposure to role models who deviate from cultural and occupational stereotypes

The authors also conducted a landscape analysis to gauge how many states were encouraging these practices and surveyed parents, teachers, and school leaders to assess the current types of information that schools are sharing about college and career opportunities in elementary schools, middle schools, and high schools.

Based on the analysis, the authors recommend state and district actions or policies to increase equitable access to and success in quality pathways by encouraging or implementing essential components in middle schools nationwide.

Background

Before COVID-19, various schools and districts were redesigning high schools to increase graduation rates, maximize student engagement, and align expectations to regional career and college expectations.⁷ However, even before schools closed to limit the spread of the coronavirus, these innovative approaches were not accessible to all students, in part because many students and their parents did not receive information needed to take advantage of these programs or did not have access to rigorous prerequisite coursework.

Inequitable access to high school pathways to college and career

High school redesign efforts are gaining traction but are not widespread due to implementation challenges and fixed funding streams. But in those pockets of success, schools have leveraged competency-based education, personalized learning, and project-based learning, and they often include a more specialized focus on specific regionally in-demand career clusters or close articulation with local college programs of study.⁸ Many of these programs include CTE courses and classes or programs that allow students to earn college credit before graduating high school, including early-college high schools or dual enrollment courses.

Longitudinal studies and evaluations show that many of these efforts are improving academic outcomes by increasing graduation rates as well as college enrollment and completion rates.⁹ But participation rates and policy analyses also show that access to some of these pathways is skewed toward high-achieving, more affluent student populations and certain racial and economic subgroups. Consider dual enrollment programs: Only 37 percent of students in dual enrollment courses are from low-income backgrounds,¹⁰ and schools with greater distributions of students in poverty are less likely to offer these types of courses.¹¹ A disproportionately lower percentage of Black and Hispanic students enroll in dual enrollment programs than white and Asian students.¹² Many different issues can perpetuate inequitable access to dual enrollment and other rigorous pathways, but inadequate preparation or knowledge of these programs is a fundamental barrier. For instance, in 2019, the Education Commission on States conducted a state landscape analysis that found that many states have strict requirements to participate in dual-credit courses, which may prevent many students from participating if they have lower achievement levels due to inadequate resources or preparation in earlier grades.¹³

The available data on the rigor of coursework offered in middle schools and national proficiency rates underscore this point. For example, access to and success in rigorous math courses are critical given the importance of prerequisite math skills in many advanced high school and CTE courses. Yet only 54 percent of middle schools offer algebra I in eighth grade, and only 24 percent of students enroll in the course. In addition, there are significant racial inequities in enrollment. Nationwide, 34 percent of Asian students and 24 percent of white students take algebra I in eighth grade. Those percentages drop to 12 percent for Hispanic students, American Indian students, and Black students.¹⁴

Similarly, proficiency in math by eighth grade shows significant differences across student subgroups. Based on 2017 data from the National Assessment of Educational Progress, 62 percent of Asian students and 44 percent of white students tested at or above proficient in math in eighth grade. Black, Hispanic, and American Indian students fared much worse.¹⁵ Only 20 percent of Hispanic students, 18 percent of American Indian students, and 13 percent of Black students scored at or above proficient.¹⁶

It is likely that COVID-19 will exacerbate these inequities. For example, a Common Sense Media study from 2020 found that it is likely that 14 million to 15 million K-12 public school students—30 percent—either have no or insufficient access to the internet, significantly inhibiting their ability to participate in distance learning.¹⁷ There are racial disparities as well. Of the students without adequate internet access, 35 percent are American Indian, 30 percent are Black, 26 percent are Hispanic, and only 18 percent are white.¹⁸ Without access to distance learning or other supports, it is likely that COVID-19 will widen opportunity gaps and cause many students to enter high school without prerequisite academic coursework. To better prepare students to enroll in high-quality pathways and grow the demand for high-quality programs, families and students need more information and time to set goals for college and career and to chart a course to achieve them.

Even before the pandemic, changes in Perkins V reflect this idea. Specifically, Perkins V allows states and school districts to use funding from the federal program as early as in fifth grade.¹⁹ Previously, states and districts could not use Perkins funding to support educational programs until seventh grade.²⁰ The law also aims to minimize inequitable access to high-quality career pathways, which may be the result of inadequate preparation or insufficient information before students enter high school.²¹

Designing middle school pathways

Some educational organizations, states, districts, and schools are beginning to consider what middle schools should offer to set strong building blocks toward college and careers. Importantly, this effort is not new. The state-led effort to develop Common Core State Standards sought the same goal and improvements to the rigor and quality of academic standards, helping to raise expectations for all students.²² But academic preparedness is only one component of college and career readiness. Schools should help students gain skills to explore in-demand jobs and succeed in securing well-paying jobs in a changing workforce, which increasingly requires some postsecondary coursework.²³

Both ACTE and Advance CTE have identified important components that set up younger students for high-quality college and career readiness pathways. Students in middle grades rarely concentrate on academic or technical areas as they might do in high school, so pathways programs in middle school should include rigorous academic career readiness standards along with a focus on career and postsecondary education exploration.

Middle school CTE student learning outcomes

Advance CTE and ACTE articulate the following CTE student learning outcomes:²⁴

- Gain awareness of and exposure to a wide array of careers
- Increase self-awareness and begin to form a potential occupational identity
- Develop employability skills

- Develop foundational technical skills as appropriate
- Be positioned to make more informed educational choices
- Transition to high school with an actionable plan for next steps
- To accomplish the above outcomes, Advance CTE and ACTE recommend the incorporation of the following design principles:
- Strive to reach each individual student
- Be career-anchored
- Be standards-based
- Be grounded in experiential or handson learning
- Balance breadth and depth across the curriculum
- Integrate into the broader K-12, or P-20, career development system
- Include intentional and meaningful employer engagement
- · Involve dedicated instructional time
- Communicate effectively to students and their families
- · Focus on student growth

5 key components for successful middle school pathways

As discussed above, CTE is a component of but is not synonymous with high school pathways.

Given this, CAP sought to build upon work of ACTE and Advance CTE and articulate the critical components of middle school programs that set students up for quality high school pathways and beyond. The authors of this report considered components of high-quality high school college and career pathways, current trends in the alignment between coursework and graduation requirements, and challenges and inequities within and between transitions between schools and grade levels. In addition, the authors also identify a number of considerations for implementing these key components in the context of remote or blended learning as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Rigorous instructional coursework that ensures readiness and eligibility for high-quality high school programs

Data show that there are significant inequities in access to rigorous coursework in high school. Data collected by the U.S. Department of Education show that access to the full range of math and science courses is significantly better for white and Asian American students than for other student subgroups. For example, 81 percent of Asian American students have access to the full range of math and science courses, while only 57 percent of Black students and 67 percent of Latino students have the same level of access.²⁵

Students may lack access to rigorous instruction due to inadequate course offerings within their school or district, but insufficient preparation in previous grades may also contribute. For example, a recent CAP analysis underscores that students may struggle to achieve in postsecondary education in part due to inconsistencies between state requirements for a high school diploma and college and career readiness benchmarks. Eight states' high school graduation requirements—California, Indiana, Maryland, Missouri, Montana, Texas, Wisconsin, and Wyoming—do not meet or exceed the state's college admissions math coursework requirements. In fact, the study found that almost every U.S. state failed to meet general college admission coursework requirements in at least one subject area.²⁶

The rigorous instruction component aligns with ACTE and Advance CTE's guidance for quality CTE programs. Both organizations stress that programs should have a standards-based curriculum that is sequenced to align with credentials of value or postsecondary programs, as well as teachers who have industry-specific knowledge and strong pedagogy.²⁷

Given that there is not a clear course sequence for middle schools, it is impossible to assess preparation inconsistencies as CAP did between high school and college and career readiness benchmarks. Yet it is clear that to be prepared for high-quality high school programs and rigorous coursework, middle school students should be performing at or above proficiency in courses that set them up for a high school curriculum and are aligned to postsecondary and career expectations.²⁸ Available proficiency rates and data on access to algebra I in eighth grade suggest that middle schools face similar challenges in rigorous instruction and coursework preparation for high school as high schools face in preparing students for college admissions and career expectations.

States and districts can regularly survey and review outcome data of various high school pathways programs and map those to demographic data to assess if their programs are equitably serving all students. States or districts can also evaluate enrollment requirements of those programs to identify key barriers to entry and determine how best to increase access to programs. For example, Maryland published CTE outcome and enrollment data disaggregated by race and ethnicity. Maryland encourages CTE teachers and administrators to use the data to review policies to resolve enrollment or outcome gaps. For example, the Maryland State Department of Education used the information to work with state and local leaders to identify ways to minimize enrollment gaps in high-quality career and technical pathways. Since the survey, Maryland has worked to alter enrollment criteria to reduce selection bias and put a lower emphasis on grades, disciplinary records, and other inputs.²⁹

During the COVID-19 crisis, all of these ideas apply, but schools must also maximize access to broadband and implement a 1-to-1 device policy—in other words, one device for every student to ensure that all students have the ability to engage in the academic content. In addition, once schools reopen, schools must implement approaches to accelerate learning to keep students on track to access rigorous college or career paths.

Counseling and exploration for career pathways and college preparation

Far too many students enter high school without any prior exposure to the full range of postsecondary opportunities available to them. Recent data show that most teenagers in the United States—and worldwide—still have relatively constrained expectations about their future careers. Slightly more than 46 percent of American teenagers expect to work in one of the 10 most commonly cited jobs.³⁰ While the list of commonly cited occupations differs slightly by gender, both girls and boys commonly cite the following occupations: doctors, teachers, police officers, architects, and business managers. What's more, far more students from disadvantaged backgrounds hold incongruent career and education goals.³¹ Specifically, worldwide, a greater percentage of disadvantaged students than advantaged students expect to have a managerial or professional career without completing postsecondary education.³²

More deliberate efforts to broaden students' horizons in middle school can help them set ambitious goals early and with sufficient time to secure their future. While workplace learning, survey courses, or other experiential opportunities can be effective to spark or solidify student interest, these opportunities may not be possible in many middle school programs.³³ As an alternative, universal pathways counseling and structured resources to explore available pathways in middle school and beyond can level the playing field and ensure that all students are aware of career pathways, opportunities to access postsecondary credit in high school, and the prerequisites to access any of those programs.³⁴ This is important, as students who are exposed to or aware of certain pathways in earlier grades have more time to select and enroll in courses, keeping them on track for rigorous pathways.

Counselors may help guide students to explore what opportunities best meet their interests and goals and develop living, individualized academic and career preparation plans to track their progress.³⁵ Nationwide, however, many states, districts, and schools struggle to employ enough counselors to provide individualized, universal counseling to support all students' needs, including college and career exploration. For example, the national average of the ratio of counselors to students is 1-to-491,

but the American School Counselor Association recommends that the ratio should be 1-to-250.³⁶ According to state numbers from the 2014-15 school year, the problem is especially pressing in certain states. For instance, the ratio of counselors to students is 1-to-924 in Arizona, 1-to-760 in California, and 1-to-729 in Michigan. Only three states—New Hampshire, Vermont, and Wyoming—were at or under the ideal ratio.³⁷ There is no available national data on counselor-to-student ratios disaggregated by grade span so it is not possible to determine how these shortages may be better or worse in middle schools nationwide.

A recent report by the American School Counselor Association and Advance CTE surveyed state career and technical education directors, state school counseling directors, and school counselors to better understand the quality of counseling specific to career development and exploration. Only about a quarter of middle school counselors report that they connect students to career-focused coursework or pathways, and most counselors report that they need more professional development and resources to effectively support students to explore career possibilities.³⁸

Tools or resources can help students explore career pathways independently and supplement the role of a counselor. In fact, the same survey found that the effectiveness of what is termed a "custom-made career awareness and planning tool or platform" is quite high, with 58 percent of the respondents reporting it is effective or extremely effective.³⁹

Some states have tools or databases that are available online, which may prove to be an important component to augment other efforts given the shift to distance learning due to the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, South Dakota has a website— SDMyLife—to help students and their families understand options to prepare for college and career. Some of these resources are available to anyone who visits the site and others require a school to give a student or family a free account.⁴⁰

One of the tools offered on SDMyLife, and by other states and schools online or in school, is an individualized career and academic plan that requires students to articulate goals and the steps to successfully reach those goals. While many states require high school students to complete these plans, completing them even earlier would be better. These plans can facilitate conversations among counselors, teachers, students, and families. Opportunities for teachers to connect with and learn from industry and postsecondary programs

Content knowledge matters for teaching quality.⁴¹ High-quality high school pathways programs have teachers that have a clear understanding of the skills and knowledge they are trying to foster either through personal experience or through an understanding of the expectations of postsecondary institutions and industry and community partners.⁴² This knowledge helps teachers effectively develop lessons and curriculum that are aligned to future opportunities and can increase the relevance of the coursework for students.

In middle grades, a similar idea should apply, but given that students are just beginning to explore career and postsecondary opportunities, it is more important for teachers to have a broad understanding of available pathways, future careers, and postsecondary opportunities than to have a deep knowledge of a specific industry.⁴³ Teachers may leverage this understanding of pathways, careers, or postsecondary opportunities to help students explore opportunities, plan lessons or projects that align to real-world situations relevant to the local economy, or organize experiential learning.

Schools and districts can foster this connection to industry partners and postsecondary institutions in different ways. Some middle school teachers may lack the personal relationships with industry partners to effectively align coursework with industry needs. District or school staff can close these gaps by working with intermediary organizations, workforce boards, or labor market partnerships to develop professional development resources or structured activities.

In addition, middle school teachers can work closely with high schools and with the central district office to understand postsecondary articulation statistics and available options within the region.

While these models can look very different, some independent school districts in Texas offer three-day industry externships for high school and middle school teachers to allow them to gain hands-on knowledge of industries. Local workforce boards or chambers of commerce help to organize the Texas program. The goal is to ensure educators have the opportunity to interact with business partners in specific industries and build strategies to integrate what they learn into their instruction.⁴⁴ Given that so many more industries are now working remotely, there may be fewer barriers to educators talking and collaborating with industries.⁴⁵ Family engagement and frequent information on college and career pathways options

Parents and families play a critical role in helping students explore possible careers and navigate academic pathways, which is true now more than ever with families being the main source of student support during distance learning. As an example, some high-quality high school pathways are housed in public schools of choice public schools that require students to apply and admit students by lottery or through admissions requirements. These may be magnet schools—traditional public schools that draw students from the overall district or region—or public charter schools. Students and families may have to research and apply to various schools to gain entry to these pathways programs. Many public school choice lotteries are complicated and, at times, burdensome or gameable.⁴⁶ It is logical to assume that having an involved, informed parent or family member will increase the chances that a student effectively participates in public school choice systems. As a result, strong middle school programs that prepare students for high-quality pathways should also engage, share options, and provide information with parents and families.

A recent CAP survey reinforces this approach, finding that families, teachers, and school leaders believe that sharing this type of information is important. Across all grade levels, 81 percent of parents, 77.5 percent of teachers, and 88.7 percent of school leaders reported that schools communicating information about college and career opportunities was "mostly important" or "extremely important."⁴⁷ While parents of high school students rated the importance of this type of information highest, parents of elementary school and middle school students still rated it very highly. Parents not only valued this type of information, but they wanted it more regularly even for students in younger grades. For both middle school and high school grades, parents reported receiving information about college and career preparation between quarterly and monthly, but they would ideally like it more often. On the other hand, parents of elementary school students reported receiving the information anywhere from yearly to quarterly and monthly.⁴⁸

Empowering families to help their students prepare for high school and beyond is especially important given the current shortage of school counselors as well as the new pressure placed on families in light of school closures. Parents and families can play an important role, acting as the child's advocate, helping students think through various options, and effectively planning to access an option that is best suited to the student's goals.

Exposure to role models who deviate from cultural and occupational stereotypes

According to a 2019 report by the Connected Learning Alliance summarizing research on occupational identity, middle school students are at a critical age to build the foundation for youth occupational identity—goals and expectations for an individual in the workforce.⁴⁹ Middle school students have greater capacity to plan and make decisions than students in younger grades, and yet, they are more impressionable than students in high school.

Exposure to individuals in certain professions helps form youth occupational identity.⁵⁰ In other words, students are more likely to want and work toward a career if they have seen or have personal experience with individuals who hold that career. Unfortunately, men and white individuals are still overly represented in many well-paying, prestigious careers.⁵¹ For example, as of 2019, of the individuals who hold architectural and engineering occupations, 77.5 percent identify as white. Only 16 percent identify as women.⁵² This means that it is less likely for certain demographic groups to gain exposure to certain competitive careers, particularly if they do not see individuals who look like them in those careers.

Data from a 2020 report by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development on teenagers' career aspirations compared with the changing labor market demonstrate the effect of occupation stereotypes on students' career goals. The report found roughly a 10 percentage point gap between top-performing boys and girls in math and science seeking careers in the high-growth, well-paying fields of health and science and engineering.⁵³

To address this challenge, middle school programs can expose students to various careers early on while they are still impressionable and more open to possibilities. This exposure can occur through work-based learning opportunities or guest speakers. Whenever possible, schools should work with individuals from various career fields who may challenge common cultural and occupational stereotypes. While in-person meetings will be a challenge during the COVID-19 pandemic, schools can organize virtual experiences. There are projects underway that attempt to mitigate occupational stereotypes among middle school students. For example, there are numerous STEM programs across the country that offer girls, who are traditionally underrepresented in STEM fields, the opportunity to explore a STEM project in after-school or summer programs. Many of these programs are not currently offered through a school, but rather a community or university organization. As an example, Worcester Polytechnic Institute (WPI) offers a two-week engineering camp for seventhgrade girls each summer. According to the data, the participants in the program were more likely to apply and get accepted to WPI than those girls who were not selected for the summer program.⁵⁴

State policies on career and college exploration in middle school

The authors of this report conducted a landscape analysis of state policies across the nation to gauge how pervasive policies are that prioritize or encourage components of a rigorous grade five through eight program that sets students up for tomorrow's economy.

Due to limitations in data, the authors were unable to collect data or measures that align with all of the components that create strong building blocks for pathways that build college and career preparedness. Instead, CAP reviewed state websites, analyzed compilations of state policies, and searched state agency and legislative archives to determine if states have academic standards or expectations for all students to explore college and/or career opportunities in elementary or middle school, as well as dedicated programming or a requirement to advance counseling or exploration of college and/or career opportunities in middle school.

College and career exploration standards or expectations

The authors narrowly focused on states that have standards or expectations to explore and plan for college and careers that are broken down by grade or grade span. The authors did not count states that had a curriculum framework for various career clusters or specific standards for certain career clusters that started in middle school grades, as those are not required of all students and are, generally, specific to one or a few career clusters. However, this is not meant to devalue these career-specific standards and curriculum frameworks, which are critically important to build an aligned program to prepare students for college and career.

As mentioned previously, rigorous academic standards are vital to building the knowledge, skills, and mindsets to prepare for success in college and career, but the authors did not review or assess the rigor of core academic standards across states.

Counseling and individualized planning policies

The authors defined a policy for counseling around pathways to college and career broadly and counted states that had explicit requirements for all middle school students to develop a career and college plan, as well as those that provide a general framework to discuss high-quality pathways for middle school counselors.

Limitations

CAP conducted the search in the fall of 2019 and updated the data in the summer of 2020. The authors acknowledge that they may have missed some state policies related to prioritizing college and career exploration in middle schools, given that many states are considering implementing new policies to expand resources or programs to middle grades because Perkins V allows states and districts to begin using the funds in fifth grade. Further complicating the search, states use different terms and different structures to develop and implement policies regarding counseling and participation in CTE and other pathways programs.

In addition, the authors did not attempt to evaluate the college and career exploration standards nor whether the standards or the counseling policies are implemented with fidelity. So, while the policies themselves are an important starting point, the analysis does not assess the quality of middle school programs, curriculum, and resources nationwide.

Landscape review of college and career exploration policies

States with career and college exploration standards in middle school grades (16): Arkansas, Florida, Hawaii, Iowa, Kentucky, Maine, Maryland, Montana, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Utah, Virginia, West Virginia, Wyoming.⁵⁵

Note that Utah and Virginia have a required college and/or career exploration course with specific competencies in middle school.

States with policies that prioritize or support college and career counseling in middle school (36): Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Michigan, Mississippi, Missouri, New Mexico, New York, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin.⁵⁶

College and career preparation standards in middle grades

Sixteen states had specific standards for college and career preparedness in middle school grades, as defined by the authors. Two of these states—Virginia and Utah—require students to complete a college and career exploration course that has specific competencies in middle school.⁵⁷ Of those states, the standards varied in scope and detail. Some of these programs are described below:

- Iowa calls their CTE standards "21st Century Skills," which fall into five categories: civic literacy, employability skills, financial literacy, health literacy, and technology literacy.⁵⁸ Under each category, Iowa has 21st Century Skills standards for each grade level. Many of the overall standards are the same across grades. For example, students in fifth grade and ninth grade are expected to "adjust to various roles and responsibilities and understand the need to be flexible to change" as part of the employability skills; however, Iowa specifies different ways to demonstrate the standards based on the grade level.⁵⁹
- Kentucky requires all students to develop capabilities and learning goals to "pursue a successful future" starting as early as elementary school. The state divides these capabilities and learning goals into three domains: essential skills adaptability, diligence, initiate, knowledge, reliability, drug-free, and commination; careers, and financial literacy. Both the career and financial literacy domains explore postsecondary options to succeed in career paths in which students are interested. Starting in middle school grades, students complete an individualized learning plan with the aim of allowing students to explore careers, establish goals, explore college options, and consider financial aid options.⁶⁰
- New Jersey has K-12 "career ready practices" that "describe career-ready skills that all educators in all content areas should seek to develop in their students." These practices outline skills, knowledge, and mindsets that students should develop within certain grade bands—K-4, grades five through eight, and grades nine through 12. While some of the content areas and strands for the standards are only relevant for grades nine through 12, financial literacy and career awareness, exploration, and preparation apply to students in all grades. For example, by the end of eighth grade, students should be able to "relate how the demand for certain skills determine an individual's earning power" and "evaluate communication, collaboration, and leadership skills that can be developed through school, home, work, and extracurricular activities for use in a career."⁶¹

- West Virginia's student success standards for middle-level programming "focus on the academic, career, social and emotional development" of middle school students. They are broken down by grade band; the middle school band covers grades six through eight. In West Virginia, middle school students must prepare for postsecondary success by "identifying how performance and course selections in middle school impacts high school course readiness and postsecondary choices" and making a plan to achieve their postsecondary goals.⁶²
- Wisconsin has common career technical standards that are designed to "provide a foundation on which the discipline-specific CTE standards are built."⁶³ The standards are broken down by grade clusters: Pre-k through grade five, grades six through eight, and grades nine through 12. They focus on creativity, critical thinking, communication, and collaboration; career development; environment; health and safety; global and cultural awareness; information, media, and technology skills; and leadership.

Other states had standards for grades five through eight that described knowledge, skills, or mindsets to set up all or some students for success in specific career areas such as computer science or STEM.

College and career counseling in middle grades

The authors found that 36 states had some sort of policy or requirement that encouraged counseling around college and career preparation in middle school grades:

- Some states—including Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Oklahoma, and Virginia—require students in middle school to develop individualized career and academic plans to prepare appropriately for the options before them. These plans can help students think through the decisions that they would ideally discuss with a counselor if oneon-one counseling were available.
- Other states—including Washington, Utah, and Colorado—provide guidance or parameters for counselors in middle school to help students prepare for career and college pathways. For example, Utah requires that counselors spend 35 to 45 percent of their time in middle school on plans for college and career readiness. Washington state has a career guidance handbook guide designed to help counselors build a career and college guidance program for all students. It includes goals for counseling at the middle school and high school levels as well as lessons to achieve those goals.⁶⁴

Colorado provides a rubric of career exploration mindsets and behaviors as well as questions for families, students, and the community to help drive career exploration conversations.⁶⁵ Georgia has a guidance document to help students, families, and counselors build out an individualized career and academic plan. This includes a number of career-related assessments to help students with their plan.⁶⁶

Still other states—including Tennessee, Indiana, Pennsylvania, and Alabama—have created tools or tests for middle school students to help explore possible career opportunities and discuss the results with a school counselor. For example, Indiana is piloting the Indiana Career Explorer tool for middle school students, which allows students to explore careers, complete skill and work value assessments, and begin developing a career plan.⁶⁷ And Pennsylvania has begun using a career readiness indicator, which shows the percentage of students who are "meaningfully engaged in career exploration." This includes students using Pennsylvania's PA Career Zone online exploration platform.⁶⁸ These tools can be a cost-effective way to ensure students have access to some guidance given the significant shortages of counselors nationwide.

Other policies that create strong building blocks

While they did not fit squarely in the landscape review, the authors identified other states that had some policies that related to the components of high-quality middle school programs. For example, many states had standards or curriculum for specific career clusters. These include Idaho, which has standards for computer science and technology,⁶⁹ and Nevada, which has middle school standards for each of its six career clusters.⁷⁰ Ohio requires school districts to offer general CTE courses to middle school students; however, districts are allowed to opt out of that requirement.⁷¹

Other states—including Hawaii, Georgia, Missouri, New York, and Vermont have established working groups to refine their policies to bring career or college exploration to middle schools.

Discussion

This analysis demonstrates that states across the country are starting to recognize the importance of beginning career and college exploration in the middle, or even elementary, grades. Many states are beginning to expand policies that encourage exploration of college and career opportunities in middle grades, and it is likely that the number of states with policies that are eligible—according to the authors' standards—will increase.

When it comes to the exploration standards, there is a much more significant emphasis on career development than future postsecondary opportunities. This makes sense because all education should prepare students for a career, and core academic standards should prepare students to enroll in postsecondary programs without remediation. However, exploring different postsecondary paths early will also help students to select an appropriate course progression that meets their career and postsecondary goals.

Recommendations

The authors recommend that federal, state, and district policymakers consider the following actions to help middle schools adopt the critical elements to build a strong foundation for college and beyond. These levers would help states, districts, and schools uncover inequities and encourage more districts and schools to implement the important middle school program elements as defined by this report. Most of these policies are not specific to COVID-19, but the following are a few ways to adapt these recommendations to fit the current education landscape:

Develop an articulated strategy to prepare students for college and career

In order to ensure that students are prepared for college and career, policymakers and practitioners should work to articulate pathways that prepare students for postsecondary programs and the workforce of tomorrow. This strategy should build on the effort to make academic standards more rigorous, and states, school districts, and schools should maintain and implement rigorous standards with fidelity. Policymakers and practitioners should backward plan and access available programs to ensure that students and families are aware of future opportunities and plan early enough to take advantage of opportunities that are best suited for a student's interests.

Middle school programs in particular should include a rigorous curriculum; course sequence; aligned standards; counseling and exploration for career pathways and college preparation; opportunities for teachers to connect with and learn from industry or postsecondary programs; parent engagement and frequent information sharing regarding college and career pathways options; and exposure to role models who deviate from cultural and occupational stereotypes.

COVID-19 has disrupted the normal curriculum, so it will be all the more important to identify whether or not students are missing prerequisite skills or courses to access future opportunities.

Establish better data collection to understand student trends

As mentioned throughout the report, there are limited data available on the quality of and participation in high school and middle school pathways programs. For example, it is difficult to measure the quality of CTE pathways. While Perkins V now requires that states report more—specifically states have to report one quality indicator for CTE programs—there is still more to include. States and districts do not necessarily collect and report data on the outcomes of students from particular CTE programs. As a result, it is difficult to map the participation of different student groups against program quality and to identify inequity feeder patterns or inequitable program requirements.

States should help develop metrics and a process to assess the quality of existing CTE pathway programs and determine if there is equitable access and participation across student demographic groups. Districts should use the Perkins V comprehensive local needs assessments to evaluate access to these programs and identify the barriers that may be causing inequitable access to certain groups. This is what Maryland does with its CTE data reporting, enabling it to reduce biased enrollment requirements for high school pathways programs.

Increase or at least retain funding for school counselors

In all but three states, student-to-counselor ratios far exceed recommended levels. As a result, counselors are stretched too thin and likely do not have the capacity or resources to help students and families explore available opportunities and prepare for a pathway that best meets their interests and goals. Unfortunately, given the projected state budget shortfalls as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, it is likely that school districts will have to trim budgets and may cut school support personnel.⁷² This would be detrimental, as students now need more support than ever to manage the stress of COVID-19 and set themselves on a course to successfully navigate tomorrow's difficult labor market. Instead, states and districts should consider increasing funding to hire and develop more counselors.

Moreover, counselors need training to better support preparation for college and career in addition to knowledge and experience to support students with other challenges.⁷³

Even when counselors work within recommended ratios, it is unrealistic to expect that they can be the sole provider of information about college and careers for all students in middle or high school. States and districts should review existing tools or create new ones to help supplement counselors' work and help students and families self-explore options.

Provide professional development for school leaders, teachers, counselors, and staff

Implicit or unconscious biases may change the way a teacher behaves toward students of certain demographic groups and may change the behavior of that group even if a teacher's stereotype was untrue. Research shows that implicit biases may influence youths' career goals and can discourage some from working toward careers if their race or gender is not well represented in the field.⁷⁴

Teachers should participate in professional development to identify personal biases that may perpetuate occupational stereotypes.⁷⁵ Teachers can also help students challenge cultural and occupational stereotypes by identifying and discussing bias in media or other sources.

Efforts to bring community members and professionals who reflect the student population into schools will not only help students see the diversity in different occupations but also test school staffs' implicit biases.

Engage early and regularly in family-school communication about opportunities to prepare students for college and careers

Families play an important role in helping students consider and plan paths toward college and careers. As indicated by the authors' analysis, parents of students in as early as elementary grades desire more frequent and more regular communication about college and career opportunities, so efforts to prepare students in earlier grades should also include strategies to communicate opportunities to families.

Make individualized academic and career plans a living document

Individualized academic and career plans can help students, families, teachers, and counselors clarify goals, identify deficiencies, and make necessary adjustments to academic plans. Both Advance CTE and ACTE recognize the importance of these documents and this type of planning, which is a feature of their principles for middle school CTE programs.⁷⁶ Based on the authors' analysis, many states require some sort of plan by the end of eighth grade, and still others require or recommend them for high school students. To be effective, these plans must be living documents; that is to say, they should be updated continuously. School and support staff should help students and families revisit these documents regularly based on their ongoing progress and changes in students' interests and goals. Given current school closures, these documents should be available online.

School districts can help encourage this planning behavior by ensuring that counselors and advisers have capacity to support students, providing professional development to middle school and high school teachers and counselors around these documents, and incorporating their development into the curriculum of core academic courses. Regularly providing families with information about college and career preparation opportunities for students will help them support this process outside of school as well.

Undertake opportunities to blend funding from federal programs to support pathways in middle school

Perkins V now permits states and districts to use some of the funds to support middle grades, and state and local policymakers should blend funding from various federal programs to begin high-quality pathways early.

The program services and goals should work together. For example, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) requires that students who have an individualized education program begin to plan for their transition out of high school. While the law requires transition planning to begin by the time the child is 16 years old, schools can begin these conversations much earlier. Accordingly, funding for transition from IDEA can and should complement other federal funding to build pathways.

Conclusion

While more high-quality pathways are needed to prepare students for college and the workforce of tomorrow, those efforts were already being hampered by significant inequities that were present even before COVID-19 closed schools. The current pandemic will only perpetuate these opportunity gaps. Many of these pathways to success in college and career start in high school; but to be truly effective, students need to explore options much earlier to ensure that they are prepared to take advantage of opportunities once in high school. Amid the COVID-19 pandemic, it is all the more crucial for schools to help students and families begin to evaluate options and chart a course toward the path that suits their interests and strengths beginning in middle grades or before. Doing so will ensure that doors remain open to pathways in high school or institutions of higher education that prepare students for in-demand, well-paying jobs and that barriers to accessing those pathways are minimized.

More states, school districts, and schools should consider how to build a coherent pathway to these opportunities and start career and college exploration by middle school, if not earlier.

About the authors

Meg Benner is a senior consultant for K-12 Education at the Center for American Progress.

Scott Sargrad is the vice president for for K-12 Education at the Center.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the following individuals for their insights, feedback, and review of this report. These individuals provided helpful insights as the authors articulated the scope of the analysis, as well as insight and feedback on drafts of the report: Najmah Ahmad, program director of Career Readiness Initiatives at the Council of Chief State School Officers; Lexi Barrett, associate vice president at Jobs for the Future; Charlotte Cahill, director of Pathways to Prosperity at Jobs for the Future; Kate Kreamer, deputy executive director at Advance CTE; Sally Mayes, independent consultant; and Jarrod Nagurka, advocacy and public affairs manager at the Association for Career and Technical Education. The authors would also like to thank many CTE directors in state education agencies and Megan Ferren, special assistant for the K-12 education team at the Center for American Progress, who reviewed the results of our landscape analysis.

Appendix: Methodology for landscape analysis

To conduct the analysis, the authors used various approaches to explore different websites that house this information. First, the authors visited and browsed each state's education website and also searched the sites for various terms, including "career counseling," "career exploration," "college exploration," "career and technical education," and "exploration standards." The authors also performed similar searches on Google.

The authors also reviewed other landscape or legislative analyses from other organizations, including ACTE and Advance CTE's "State Policies Impacting CTE: 2018 Year in Review."⁷⁷

To verify the analysis, the authors emailed each state's CTE coordinator and asked them to review and verify the analysis and supplement it with any information that the authors would not have been able to find through their search.

Endnotes

- Education Commission of the States, "Dual Enrollment: Student Eligibility Requirements," available at http://ecs.force. com/mbdata/MBQuestNB2?Rep=DE1507 (last accessed July 2020).
- 2 U.S. Department of Education, "A Leak in the STEM Pipeline: Taking Algebra Early" (Washington: 2018), available at https://www2.ed.gov/datastory/stem/algebra/ index.html#data-story-title; John Fink, Davis Jenkins, and Takeshi Yanaguira, "What Happens to Students Who Take Community College 'Dual Enrollment' Courses in High School?" (New York: Community College Research Center at Columbia University Teachers College and National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2017), available at https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/what-happenscommunity-college-dual-enrollment-students.html; National Center for Education Statistics, "Dual Enrollment: Participation and Characteristics" (Washington: 2019), available at https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2019/2019176.pdf.
- 3 Ashley Jeffrey and Laura Jimenez, "Ensuring Equitable Pathways for the Class of 2020 Amid the Coronavirus," Center for American Progress, April 30, 2020, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education-k-12/ news/2020/04/30/484131/ensuring-equitable-pathwaysclass-2020-amid-coronavirus/.
- 4 Strengthening Career and Technical Education for the 21st Century Act of 2018, H.R. 2353, 115th Cong., 2nd sess. (July 31, 2018), available at https://www.congress.gov/115/bills/ ht2353/BILL5-115hr2353enr.pdf.
- 5 Ibid.
- 6 Advance CTE and Association for Career and Technical Education, "Broadening the Path: Design Principles for Middle Grades CTE" (Silver Spring, MD and Alexandria, VA: 2020), available at https://cte.careertech.org/sites/default/ files/files/resources/BroadeningPathFINAL.pdf.
- 7 Craig Jerald, Neil Campbell, and Erin Roth, "High Schools of the Future: How States Can Accelerate High School Redesign" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2017), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ education-k-12/reports/2017/12/04/443615/high-schoolsfuture-states-can-accelerate-high-school-redesign/.
- 8 Ibid.
- 9 Kyra Caspary and others, "International Baccalaureate National Trends for Low-income Students 2008–2014" (Menlo Park, CA: SRI International, 2015), available at https:// www.ibo.org/globalassets/publications/ib-research/dp/ ib-and-low-income-students-report-sri-en.pdf; American Institutes for Research, "Evaluating the Impact of Early College High Schools," available at https://www.air.org/ project/evaluating-impact-early-college-high-schools (last accessed July 2020); Mengli Song and Kristina Zeiser, "Early College, High Schools" (Washington: American Institutes for Research, 2019), available at https://www.air.org/ resource/early-college-continued-success-longer-term-impact-early-college-high-schools.
- 10 Fink, Jenkins, and Yanagiura, "What Happens to Students Who Take Community College 'Dual Enrollment' Courses in High School?"
- 11 U.S. Government Accountability Office, "Public High Schools with More Students in Poverty and Smaller Schools Provide Fewer Academic Offerings to Prepare for College" (Washington: 2018), available at https://www.gao. gov/assets/700/694961.pdf.
- 12 National Center for Education Statistics, "Dual Enrollment: Participation and Characteristics."

- 13 Education Commission of the States, "Dual Enrollment: Student Eligibility Requirements."
- 14 U.S. Department of Education, "A Leak in the STEM Pipeline."
- 15 The Nation's Report Card, "NAEP Mathematics Report Card: National Achievement-Level Results," available at https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/math_2017/nation/ achievement?grade=8 (last accessed July 2020).
- 16 Ibid.
- 17 Sumit Chandra and others, "Closing the K-12 Digital Divide in the Age of Distance Learning" (San Francisco: Common Sense Media and Boston: Boston Consulting Group, 2020), available at https://www.commonsensemedia.org/kidsaction/publications/closing-the-k-12-digital-divide-in-theage-of-distance-learning.

18 Ibid.

- 19 Strengthening Career and Technical Education for the 21st Century Act of 2018.
- 20 Carl D. Perkins Career and Technical Education Improvement Act of 2006, S. 250, 109th Cong., 2nd sess. (August 12, 2006), available at https://s3.amazonaws.com/PCRN/ uploads/perkins_iv.pdf.
- 21 Strengthening Career and Technical Education for the 21st Century Act of 2018.
- 22 Carmel Martin, Max Marchitello, and Melissa Lazarín, "Roadmap for a Successful Transition to the Common Core in States and Districts" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/education-k-12/ reports/2014/06/25/92545/roadmap-for-a-successfultransition-to-the-common-core-in-states-and-districts/.
- 23 Laura Jimenez and Scott Sargrad, "Are High School Diplomas Really a Ticket to College and Work?" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education-k-12/reports/2018/04/02/447717/high-school-diplomas/; Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce, "Recovery: Job Growth and Education Requirements Through 2020" (Washington: Georgetown Public Policy Institute, 2013), available at https://cew.georgetown.edu/cew-reports/recovery-job-growth-and-education-requirements-through-2020/.
- 24 Advance CTE and Association for Career and Technical Education, "Broadening the Path."
- 25 Catherine Lhamon, "Five New Facts from the Civil Rights Data Collection," U.S. Department of Education Home Room Blog, March 21, 2014, available at https://blog. ed.gov/2014/03/five-new-facts-from-the-civil-rights-datacollection/.
- 26 Jimenez and Sargrad, "Are High School Diplomas Really a Ticket to College and Work?"
- 27 Advance CTE, "Policy Benchmark Tool: CTE Program of Study Approval" (Silver Spring, MD: 2017), available at https://careertech.org/resource/program-approval-policybenchmark-tool; Catherine Imperatore and Alisha Hyslop, "2018 ACTE Quality CTE: Program of Study Framework" (Alexandria, VA: Association for Career and Technical Education, 2018), available at https://www.acteonline. org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/HighQualityCTEFramework2018.pdf.
- 28 Jimenez and Sargrad, "Are High School Diplomas Really a Ticket to College and Work?"

.....

- 29 Advance CTE, "Making Good on the Promise: Examining Access and Achievement Gaps" (Silver Spring, MD: 2018), available at https://careertech.org/resource/examiningaccess-achievement-gaps.
- 30 Anthony Mann and others, "Dream Jobs? Teenagers' Career Aspirations and the Future of Work" (Paris: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, 2020), available at http://www.oecd.org/education/dream-jobs-teenagerscareer-aspirations-and-the-future-of-work.htm.
- 31 Andreas Schleicher, "PISA 2018: Insights and Interpretations" (Paris: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, 2019), available at https://www.oecd.org/ pisa/PISA%202018%20Insights%20and%20Interpretations%20FINAL%20PDF.pdf.
- 32 Ibid.
- 33 Advance CTE and Association for Career and Technical Education, "Broadening the Path."
- 34 New Skills for Youth Initiative, "The State of Career and Technical Education: Career Advising and Development" (New York: 2018), available at https://cte.careertech.org/ sites/default/files/files/resources/State_of_CTE_Career_ Advising_Development_2018.pdf.
- 35 Ibid.
- 36 Ibid.
- 37 National Association for College Admission Counseling and American School Counselor Association, "State-By-State Student-to-Counselor Ratio Report: 10-Year Trends" (Arlington, VA: 2015), available at https://www.schoolcounselor.org/asca/media/asca/Publications/ratioreport.pdf.
- 38 New Skills for Youth Initiative, "The State of Career and Technical Education."
- 39 Ibid.
- 40 SDMyLife, "Home," available at https://sdmylife.com (last accessed July 2020).
- 41 Nathan Burroughs and others, "A Review of the Literature on Teacher Effectiveness and Student Outcomes," in Seamus Hegarty and Leslie Rutkowski, eds., *Teaching* for Excellence and Equity (New York: Spring International Publishing, 2019), available at https://link.springer.com/ chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-16151-4_2.
- 42 Imperatore and Hyslop, "2018 ACTE Quality CTE: Program of Study Framework"; Advance CTE, "Policy Benchmark Tool."
- 43 New Skills for Youth Initiative, "Expanding Middle School CTE to Promote Lifelong Learner Success" (New York: 2018), available at https://cte.careertech.org/sites/default/ files/files/resources/AdvanceCTE_MiddleSchoolCTEReport_2018.pdf.
- 44 Round Rock Chamber, "Externship Program for Educators," available at https://roundrockchamber.org/communityenhancement/talent-development/externship-program/ (last accessed July 2020); Catherine Imperatore, research manager, Advance CTE, personal communication with author via email, April 6, 2020, on file with author.
- 45 Center for American Progress, "Ensuring a Quality Education for Every Child Web Series: Preparing K-8 Students for the Future of Work," May 20, 2020, available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/events/2020/04/29/484216/ preparing-k-8-students-future-work/.
- 46 Meg Benner, Ulrich Boser, and Aloha Backenstose, "How to Match Students With Schools They Choose," Center for American Progress, November 13, 2018, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education-k-12/ news/2018/11/13/460832/match-students-schoolschoose/.

.....

47 Meg Benner and Abby Quirk, "One Size Does Not Fit All: Analyzing Different Approaches to Family-School Communication" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2020), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/education-k-12/reports/2020/02/20/480254/onesize-not-fit/.

48 Ibid.

49 Jessica Callahan and others, "Influences on Occupational Identity in Adolescence: A Review of Research and Programs" (Irvine, CA: Connected Learning Alliance, 2019), available at https://equitablefutures.org/influences-onoccupational-identity-a-review-of-research-and-program/.

50 Ibid.

- 51 Leroy L. Long III and Joel Alejandro Mejia, "Conversations about Diversity: Institutional Barriers for Underrepresented Engineering Students," *Journal of Engineering Education* 105 (2) (2016): 211–218, available at https://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/jee.20114.
- 52 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, "Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey: Household Data Annual Averages," available at https://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsaat11. htm (last accessed July 2020).
- 53 Schleicher, "PISA 2018."
- 54 Chrysanthe Demetry and Suzanne Sontgerath, "A middle school engineering outreach program for girls yields STEM undergraduates" (Columbus, OH: American Society of Engineering Education, 2017), available at https://www. researchgate.net/publication/317951993_A_middle_ school_engineering_outreach_program_for_girls_yields_ STEM_undergraduates.
- 55 Arkansas Department of Career Education, "Program Policies and Procedures for Career and Technical Education" (Little Rock, AR: 2019), available at https://dcte. ade.arkansas.gov/docs/CTEAdministration/revised-ctepolicies-and-procedures-final-10feb2019.pdf; Florida Department of Education, "Educator's Toolkit," available at http://www.fldoe.org/academics/college-career-planning/ educators-toolkit/ (last accessed July 2020); Hawaii Department of Education, "Content Area: Career and Technical Education," available at http://www.hawaiipublicschools. org/DOE%20Forms/CTE/CTEHCPSIIIstandards.pdf (last accessed July 2020); Iowa Department of Education, "Iowa CORE: 21st Century Skills," available at https://iowacore. gov/iowa-core/subject/21st-century-skills (last accessed July 2020): Kentucky Department of Education, "Kentucky Academic Standards: Career Studies" (Frankfort, KY: 2019), available at https://education.ky.gov/curriculum/standards/kyacadstand/Documents/MIR_704_KAR_8.080_Kentucky_Academic_Standards_for_Career_Studies.pdf; Maine Department of Education, "Maine Learning Results: Life and Career Ready Standards," available at https://www. maine.gov/doe/learning/content/career/standards (last accessed July 2020); Maryland State Department of Education, "Maryland Career Development Framework," available at http://marylandpublicschools.org/programs/Documents/CTE/CDFrameworkAugustRevised2012.pdf (last accessed June 2020); Montana Department of Education, "Montana Standards for Career and Vocational Technical Education," available at http://opi.mt.gov/Portals/182/ Page%20Files/Career%20%26%20Technical%20Education/Docs/Standards%20and%20Guidelines/ContStds-CareerTech.pdf (last accessed July 2020); New Hampshire Educators Online, "Career Development," available at http://www.nheon.org/frameworks/career/index.php (last accessed July 2020); New Jersey Department of Education, "Career Ready Practices," available at https://www. nj.gov/education/cccs/2014/career/9.pdf (last accessed July 2020); New York Department of Education, "Learning Standards for Career Development and Occupational Studies at Three Levels," available at http://www.p12.nysed. gov/cte/cdlearn/documents/cdoslea.pdf (last accessed July 2020); Pennsylvania Department of Education, "PA Career Standards," available at https://www.education. pa.gov/K-12/PACareerStandards/Pages/default.aspx (last accessed July 2020); Utah State Board of Education, "Career

and Technical Education: Strands and Standards," available at https://www.schools.utah.gov/cte/cca/strandsstandards (last accessed July 2020); David Eshelman, director of Workforce Development and Initiatives, Virginia Office of Career, Technical and Adult Education, personal communication with author via email, June 8, 2020, on file with the author; West Virginia Department of Education, "Student Success Standards," available at https://wvde. us/tree/middlesecondary-learning/student-successstandards/ (last accessed July 2020); Wyoming State Board of Education, "2014 Wyoming Career & Vocational Education Content and Performance Standards," available at https://1ddlxtt2jowkvs672myo6z14-wpengine.netdna-ssl. com/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/2014-CVE-WyCPS-FINAL_11.28.18sd_FINAL.pdf (last accessed June 2020).

56 Alabama State Department of Education, "Comprehensive Counseling and Guidance State Model for Alabama Public Schools," available at https://www.alsde.edu/sec/sct/ COS/2003%20Comprehensive%20Counseling%20and%20 Guidance%20Model%20for%20Alabama%20Public%20 Schools%20(State%20Plan).pdf (last accessed June 2020); Alaska CTE, "Personal Learning and Career Planning Overview," available at http://www.livebinders.com/play/ play?id=1193391 (last accessed July 2020); Arizona Department of Education, "ECAP – Education and Career Action Plan: Middle Grades," available at https://www.azed. gov/ecap/ecap-education-and-career-action-plan/ middle-grades/ (last accessed July 2020): Arkansas Department of Education, "Arkansas School Counselor Toolkit," available at http://dese.ade.arkansas.gov/public/ userfiles/Learning_Services/Guidance_School_Counseling/Arkansas_School_Counselor_Toolkit.Post1.pdf (last accessed July 2020); Colorado Department of Education, "Middle School Career Conversations," available at https:// www.cde.state.co.us/postsecondary/career-conversationsmiddle-school (last accessed July 2020); Connecticut Department of Education, "Student Success Plan," available at https://portal.ct.gov/SDE/SSReform/SSP/Student-Success-Plan/Documents (last accessed July 2020); State of Delaware, "507 Student Success Planning," available at https://regulations.delaware.gov/AdminCode/ title14/500/507.shtml (last accessed July 2020); Florida Department of Education, "Florida Counseling for Future Education Handbook" (Tallahassee: 2019), available at https://dlss.flvc.org/c/document_library/get_ file?uuid=665970ae-a92e-6e8c-ef63-469678989565#page=6; Georgia Department of Education, "Middle School Guidance Document," available at https://www.gadoe.org/Curriculum-Instruction-and-Assessment/CTAE/Documents/Middle-School-Career-Guidance-document.pdf (last accessed June 2020); Illinois State Board of Education and others, "Illinois PaCE Postsecondary and Career Expectations," available at https://www.isbe.net/Documents/PaCE Revisions.pdf (last accessed July 2020); Matt Masterson, "New Illinois Guidelines Aim to Boost College and Career Readiness," WTTW, June 22, 2017, available at https://news.wttw. com/2017/06/22/new-illinois-guidelines-aim-boostcollege-and-career-readiness; Indiana Department of Education, "Indiana School Counseling Competencies for Students," available at https://www.in.gov/dwd/files/ Indiana_School_Counseling_Competencies_for_Students_FINAL.pdf (last accessed July 2020); Indiana Department of Workforce Development, "The Indiana Career Explorer Pilot Program expands by 20 middle schools for 2018-19," Press release, June 26, 2018, available at https://content.govdelivery.com/accounts/INDWD/ bulletins/1fa1cc7: Amanda Culhan and Stephanie Kozuch. "Resource Guide for Middle School Counselors" (Indianapolis: Indiana Department of Education, 2018), available at https://www.doe.in.gov/sites/default/files/ student-assistance/resource-guide-middle-school-counselors-2018-19-final.pdf; State of Iowa Department of Education, "Overview and Initial Guidance on House File 2392 Division I—Individual Career and Academic Planning (ICAP)," available at https://educateiowa.gov/sites/files/ed/ documents/Overview%20and%20Initial%20Guidance%20 on%20House%20File%202392%20Div%20I.Fl-NAL_.06.15.16.pdf (last accessed June 2020); Kansas State Department of Education, "Kansas Career Advising Model Advisor Guide" (Topeka, KS: 2018), available at https://

www.ksde.org/Portals/0/CSAS/CSAS%20Home/Plan_Of_ Study/Kansas%20Career%20Advising%20Model. pdf?ver=2019-01-04-124858-667; Kansas State Department of Education, "Kansas Curricular Standards for School Counseling" (Topeka, KS: 2015), available at https:// www.ksde.org/Portals/0/CSAS/Content%20Area%20(M-Z)/ School%20Counseling/Kansas%20Curricular%20 Standards%20for%20School%20Counseling%20Final%20 Rev111015.pdf?ver=2015-11-10-102000-273; Kentucky Department of Education, "Individual Learning Plan," May 18, 2020, available at https://education.ky.gov/ educational/compschcouns/ILP/Pages/default.aspx; Louisiana Division of Administration, "Title 28: Education" (Baton Rouge, LA: 2015), available at https://www.doa.la.gov/ Pages/osr/lac/LAC-28.aspx; Louisiana Department of Education, "Individual Graduation Plan," available at https://www.louisianabelieves.com/docs/default-source/ counselor-toolbox-resources/individual-graduation-planigp.pdf?sfvrsn=42068c1f_56 (last accessed July 2020); The College Board, "Middle School Counselor's Guide: NOSCA's Eight Components of College and Career Readiness Counseling" (New York: 2011), available at https:// secure-media.collegeboard.org/digitalServices/pdf/ advocacy/nosca/11b-4382_MS_Counselor_Guide_ WEB_120213.pdf; Maryland State Department of Education, "Maryland Technology Education Standards: Grades 6-12" (Baltimore: 2016), available at http:// marylandpublicschools.org/programs/Documents/CTE/ MDTechnologyEducationStandards.pdf; Michigan Department of Education, "Michigan Career Development Model" (Lansing, MI: 2018), available at https://www. michigan.gov/documents/mde/MI_Career_Development_Model_-_Dec._18_2018_641266_7.pdf; Mississippi Department of Education, "Mississippi Career Develop ment Resource Document" (Jackson, MS: 2017), available at https://www.mdek12.org/sites/default/files/Offices/ MDE/OAE/SEC/Counseling/Mississippi%20Career%20 Development%20Resource%20Document%202018-2019. pdf; Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, "Missouri Comprehensive School Counseling Program" (Jefferson City, MO: 2017), available at https:// dese.mo.gov/sites/default/files/cnsl-missouri-comprehensive-school-counseling-manual-2017_0.pdf; New Mexico Public Education Department, "Next Step Plan," available at https://webnew.ped.state.nm.us/bureaus/college-careerreadiness/next-step-plan/ (last accessed July 2020); New York State Education Department, "New York State Career and Technical Education: Guidelines for Career and Technical Education Administrators and School Counselors" (Albany, NY: 2018), available at http://www. p12.nysed.gov/cte/policy/docs/CTEadminguide070618_508.pdf; Succeed2020, "College and Career Counseling and Planning," available at https:// ndsucceed2020.org/program-activities/college-andcareer-counseling-and-planning/ (last accessed July 2020); North Dakota Department of Career and Technical Education, "Students/Family," available at https://www.cte. nd.gov/studentsfamily (last accessed July 2020); Ohio Department of Education, "Ohio Standards for School Counselors" (Columbus, OH: 2015), available at http:// education.ohio.gov/getattachment/Topics/Career-Tech/ Career-Connections/School-Counselors/School-Counselor-Standards-and-Evaluation/SchoolCounselorStandards.pdf. aspx; Policy on career advising of 2014, H.B. 487, 130th Ohio General Assembly, 1st sess. (September 17, 2014), available at http://codes.ohio.gov/orc/3313.6020; Oklahoma State Department of Education, "ICAP Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)," available at https:// www.okedge.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/ ICAP-2019-FAQs3.pdf (last accessed July 2020); Pennsylvania Department of Education, "Career Readiness Indicator for the Future Ready PA Index and ESSA Accountability: Guidelines for Evidence Collection, Monitoring, and Reporting" (Philadelphia: 2019), available at https://www.education.pa.gov/Documents/K-12/ Career%20and%20Technical%20Education/CEWStandards/Main/Career%20Readiness%20Guidance.pdf; Rhode Island Department of Education, "Rhode Island Individual Learning Plan Adoption Toolkit" (Providence, RI: 2018), available at https://www.ride.ri.gov/Portals/0/Uploads/ Documents/Students-and-Families-Great-Schools/ Educational-Programming/Counseling/ILP_Toolkit/ILP_

.....

Toolkit_combined.pdf?ver=2018-05-10-155812-853; South Carolina Department of Education, "Career Exploration Grades 6-8," available at https://ed.sc.gov/instruction/ career-and-technical-education/career-guidance/ sc-career-guidance-model/career-exploration-grades-6-8/ (last accessed July 2020); South Carolina Education and Economic Development Act of 2005, No. 88, Section 1 (May 27, 2005), available at https://www.scstatehouse.gov/ code/t59c059.php; Tennessee State Board of Education, "Middle Grades Policy" (Nashville, TN: 1998), available at https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/stateboardofeducation/documents/policies/6000/20190726_2.102%20 Middle%20Grades%20Policy.pdf; Texas Education Agency, "The Texas Model for Comprehensive School Counseling Programs" (Austin, TX: 2018), available at https://tea.texas. gov/sites/default/files/Pub_2018_Texas-Model_5th-Edition.pdf; Utah State Board of Education, "College and Career Readiness School Counseling Program Model: Second Edition" (Salt Lake City: 2016), available at https:// www.schools.utah.gov/file/5ff1f145-c2c4-4fe5-b8bc-61c744a27f51: Flexible Pathways Initiative: Dual Enrollment, S. 130, Vermont General Assembly (June 6, 2013), available at http://www.leg.state.vt.us/docs/2014/ Acts/ACT077.pdf; Virginia State Board of Education, "College and Career Readiness; Career Exposure, Exploration, and Planning; and Opportunities for Postsecondary Credit," available at https://law.lis.virginia. gov/admincode/title8/agency20/chapter131/section140/ (last accessed July 2020); Washington Office of Superintendent of Public Instruction, "Career Guidance Washington FAQs," available at https://www.k12.wa.us/ student-success/graduation/graduation-requirements/ graduation-pathways-toolkit/high-school-beyond-planning/career-guidance-washington-faqs (last accessed July 2020); West Virginia Department of Education, "POLICY 2510 Foundation for High-Quality Middle School Level Programming Best Practices (Grades 6-8)" (Charleston, SC: 2018), available at https://wvde.us/wp-content/ uploads/2018/05/UPDATED-Policy2510-BestPractices-MiddleSchool-2018May9.pdf; Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction, "ACP in Wisconsin: Implementing Academic and Career Planning" (Madison, WI: 2016), available at https://dpi.wi.gov/sites/default/files/imce/acp/ DPI%20Guide%202016%20FINAL%20web.pdf.

- 57 Virginia's CTE Resource Center, "Career Investigations Task List," David Eshelman, director of Workforce Development and Initiatives, Virginia Department of Education, personal communication with author via email, June 8, 2020, on file with author.
- 58 Iowa Department of Education, "Iowa CORE: 21st Century Skills."
- 59 Ibid.
- 60 Kentucky Department of Education, "Individual Learning Plan."
- 61 New Jersey Department of Education, "Career Ready Practices."
- 62 West Virginia Department of Education, "Student Success Standards."
- 63 Wisconsin Department of Education, "Section III: Wisconsin Common Career Technical Standards," available at https:// dpi.wi.gov/sites/default/files/imce/cte/pdf/WCCTS_Standards.pdf (last accessed July 2020).
- 64 Washington Department of Education, "Career Guidance Washington: Handbook Guide" (Olympia, WA: 2016), available at https://www.k12.wa.us/sites/default/files/public/ ossi/k12supports/careercollegereadiness/pubdocs/handbookcareerguidancewashington.pdf.

- 65 Colorado Department of Education, "Middle School Career Conversations."
- 66 Georgia Department of Education, "Middle School Guidance Document."
- 67 Indiana Department of Workforce Development, "The Indiana Career Explorer Pilot Program expands by 20 middle schools for 2018-19."
- 68 Pennsylvania Department of Education, "Career Readiness Indicator for the Future Ready PA Index and ESSA Accountability."
- 69 Idaho Department of Education, "Idaho Content Standards," available at http://www.sde.idaho.gov/academic/ standards/ (last accessed July 2020).
- 70 State of Nevada Department of Education, "Career and Technical Education," available at http://www.doe.nv.gov/ CTE/ (last accessed July 2020).
- 71 Ohio Department of Education, "CTE Middle Grades Waiver Form Instructions," available at
- http://education.ohio.gov/getattachment/Topics/Career-Tech/ CTE-Middle-Grade-Programming/MS-Waiver-Instructions-FY20.pdf.aspx?lang=en-US (last accessed July 2020).
- 72 Eric Gordon and others, "Re: Coronavirus—Aid Letter II," Council of the Great City Schools, April 28, 2020, available at https://www.cgcs.org/cms/lib/DC00001581/Centricity/ Domain/313/Coronavirus-Aid%20Letter%20II.pdf.
- 73 Charlotte West, "Why aren't more school counselors trained in helping students apply to college?", The Hechinger Report, February 21, 2020, available at https:// hechingerreport.org/why-arent-more-school-counselorstrained-in-helping-students-apply-to-college?utm_ source=EC5+Subscribers&utm_campaign=fc32f7td6e-ED_CLIPS_2020_02_26&utm_medium=email&utm_ term=0_1a2b00b930-fc32f7td6e-53618303.
- 74 Callahan and others, "Influences on Occupational Identity in Adolescence."
- 75 Thomas Dee and Seth Gershenson, "Unconscious Bias in the Classroom: Evidence and Opportunities" (Mountain View, CA: Google, 2017), available at https://cepa.stanford. edu/content/unconscious-bias-classroom-evidence-andopportunities.
- 76 Advance CTE and Association for Career and Technical Education, "Broadening the Path."
- 77 Advance CTE, "State Policies Impacting CTE: 2018 Year in Review" (Silver Spring, MD: 2019), available at https://cte. careertech.org/sites/default/files/files/resources/2018_ State_CTE_Policy_Review.pdf; Advance CTE, "State Policies Impacting CTE: 2017 Year in Review" (Silver Spring, MD: 2018), available at https://ctepolicywatch.acteonline. org/2018/01/new-report-2017-state-cte-policy-review-. html; Advance CTE, "State Policies Impacting CTE: 2016 Year in Review" (Silver Spring, MD: 2017), available at https://careertech.org/resource/2016-year-in-review.

.....

Our Mission

The Center for American Progress is an independent, nonpartisan policy institute that is dedicated to improving the lives of all Americans, through bold, progressive ideas, as well as strong leadership and concerted action. Our aim is not just to change the conversation, but to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, American Progress can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

